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GARMAN TURNER GORDON LLP
GERALD M. GORDON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 229
E-mail: ggordon@gtg.legal
KRISTIN M. TYLER, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10254
E-mail: ktyler@gtg.legal
ERICK T. GJERDINGEN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11972
E-mail: egjerdingen@gtg.legal
650 White Drive, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone (725) 777-3000
Facsimile (725) 777-3112
Attorneys for Petitioning Creditors

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA

In re:

ROBERT C. GRAHAM, LTD, A NEVADA
PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION, D/B/A
ROBERT C. GRAHAM CORP. AND
LAWYERSWEST

Alleged Debtor.

Case No.: BK-S-16-16655-btb
Chapter: 7

Hearing:
Date: OST Pending
Time: OST Pending

MOTION TO APPOINT INTERIM TRUSTEE IN INVOLUNTARY CASE

Barbara A. Macknin, executor of the Estate of Michael B. Macknin, Sharona Dagani as

Trustee of the Sharona Dagani Trust, u/t/d July 2, 2003, and Laura J. Aust as Guardian and

Conservator of Margueritte Owens and the beneficiary of the Margueritte Owens Trust u/t/d

October 10, 2008 (the “Petitioning Creditors”), by and through their counsel, the law firm of

Garman Turner Gordon LLP, hereby submit this motion (the “Motion”) seeking entry of an

order, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”, pursuant to Sections1 303(g) and 701, to direct the United

State Trustee (the “UST”) to appointment of an interim trustee (“Trustee”), to take possession of

property and to manage the business operations and assets of Robert C. Graham, Ltd., a Nevada

1 All references to “Chapter” and “Section” herein shall be to 11 U.S.C. §§ 101-1532 (the “Bankruptcy Code”); all
references to a “Bankruptcy Rule” shall refer to the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure; and all references to a
“Local Rule” shall refer to the Local Rules of Bankruptcy Practice of the U.S. District Court for the District of
Nevada.
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professional corporation (“Debtor” or the “Law Firm”), d/b/a Rob Graham & Associates and

LawyersWest which operated law offices in Las Vegas, Nevada, St. George, Utah and Boulder,

Colorado, which Debtor recently ceased doing business and the principal of which, Nevada

attorney Robert C. Graham (“Graham”), was suspended from practice by the Nevada Supreme

Court. Petitioning Creditors further request that the UST appoint Brian Shapiro, Esq. as the

Trustee based on his knowledge and experience in the protection and recovery of assets in the

bankruptcy context.

While the State Bar of Nevada (the “Nevada Bar”) has diligently responded to allegations

that Graham had misappropriated millions of dollars held in client trust funds, and Nevada

attorneys Jasen E. Cassady, Esq. and Brandi K. Cassady, Esq. of the Cassady Law Office were

appointed by Nevada’s Eighth Judicial District Court (the “State Court”) to assume control of

Graham’s abandoned law practice and files, the filing of this involuntary Chapter 7 case (this

“Chapter 7 Case”) is necessary to protect the Law Firm’s clients, and to effectuate the recovery

and distribution of funds that are held across various jurisdictions in numerous financial

institutions. In turn, the appointment of the Trustee for the specific purpose of managing

Debtor’s business operations and assets, but not undertaking active representation of clients, is

necessary to effectively marshal and protect these misappropriated client trusts funds as well as

other assets of the Law Firm, which may otherwise be used, lost, or subsequently transferred.

This Motion is made and based on the memorandum of points and authorities set forth

below, the pleadings, papers, and other records on file with the clerk of the above-captioned

Court, as well as pleadings, papers, and other records on file with Nevada courts and tribunals,

including attorney disciplinary matters, expressly including true and correct copies following:

• the Complaint filed by the Nevada Bar against Graham on December 8, 2016, to
commence case no. OBC16-1503 (the “Disciplinary Action”) with the Southern
Nevada Disciplinary Board attached as Exhibit “B”;

• the Order Granting Petition, Suspending Attorney, and Restricting Handling of Client
Funds (the “Suspension Order”) entered by the Nevada Supreme Court on December
9, 2016, attached as Exhibit “C”;

• the Ex Parte Application to Expand the Relief of the Temporary Restraining Order
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Granted on December 5, 2016 (the “Expanded TRO Application”) filed by Joseph S.
Kistler, Esq. as counsel for the Estate of Michael B. Macknin (the “Macknin Estate”)
in case no P-13-077855-E (the “Macknin Case”) before the State Court, which
includes the declarations of Mr. Kistler (the “Expanded Kistler TRO Dec.”) as
Exhibit A to the Expanded TRO Application and as Exhibit 2 to Exhibit 8 to the
Expanded Kistler TRO Dec. (the “Initial Kistler TRO Dec.”),attached as Exhibit
“D”;

• the Order Granting the Estate’s Emergency Ex Parte Application to Expand Relief of
the Temporary Restraining Order Granted on December 5, 2016 and An Order to
Show Cause Regarding Preliminary Injunction (the “Expanded TRO”) entered by the
State Court in the Macknin Case, attached as Exhibit “E”; and

• the Affidavit in Opposition of Emergency Ex Parte Motion for Temporary Restraining
Order (the “Graham Affidavit”) filed by Mr. Graham on or about December 13,
2016, attached as Exhibit “F”;

judicial notice of which is hereby respectfully requested, and the argument of counsel entertained

by the Court at the time of the hearing of the Motion.

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES
I.

INTRODUCTION

Based on supporting evidence detailed below, including the representations of the

Nevada Bar, various private counsel and Mr. Graham, Mr. Graham and his Law Firm,

recognizable to the general public through television advertisement, cannot account for millions

of dollars of client trust account funds. As unmistakable concerns regarding Mr. Graham’s

inability to transfer client funds to new counsel came to light during litigation, Mr. Graham

closed his practice, and abandoned more than 100 clients. Shortly thereafter, initial review of

financial documents regarding the trust funds for 51 of his clients by suggested that, in an

account where more than $13 million should have been held, no more than $500,000 remains.

While the State Bar and certain of its private members have worked swiftly and diligently to aid

Mr. Graham’s abandoned clients—some of whom may have retained the Law Firm based on

television commercials alone, having had no prior experience with lawyers until, e.g., the death

of a family member, and who have now become involuntary creditors in this Chapter 7 Case—

time is of the essence to attempt to recover misappropriated funds. Within the first week after

the closing of the Law Firm, the Nevada Bar uncovered information suggesting that client funds
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could be spread across numerous institutions in various states.

Although media reports as of December 15, 2016, have indicated that the Las Vegas

Metropolitan Police Department and the FBI are gathering facts and considering strategy in

connection with criminal prosecution of Mr. Graham,2 potentially recoverable assets of the estate

are at imminent risk of subsequent transfer. For what amount of justice may be served for any

victims of Mr. Graham’s potentially criminal conversion of funds through criminal investigation

and prosecution, the recovery of the misappropriated funds—which are likely to include the

hard-earned savings of those who sacrificed or, at times, went without in order to pass along a

measure of security to future generations—is best accomplished as immediately as possible, and

through the bankruptcy courts’ civil law system. As this Court is well-aware, the self-funding

potential recovery through the bankruptcy process is limited by the extent of litigation required

to recover misappropriated funds, such as through fraudulent transfer actions. To the extent that

the Trustee can immediately marshal funds, and prevent additional transfers, including

subsequent transfers under Section 550, the greater the potential that funds can be found,

retained, and returned, and recovery would not require a potentially cost-prohibitive array of

fraudulent transfer litigation.

It is unclear where the funds have gone and why, although it has become increasingly

apparent that the funds are already spread across numerous institutions in various jurisdictions.

As such, the appointment of the Trustee is warranted under Section 303(g) and 701 to utilize

powers authorized under federal bankruptcy law to increase the likelihood that funds may be

recovered, while merely pursuing civil recovery and avoidance actions in state courts could

potentially limit the ability of the Debtor’s involuntary creditors to recover their funds.

. . .

. . .

. . .

2 See, e.g., Jeff German, “Las Vegas police, FBI join forces to investigate embattled attorney Robert Graham,” Las
Vegas Review-Journal (Dec. 13, 2016), available at http://www.reviewjournal.com/ news/las-vegas-police-fbi-join-
forces-investigate-embattled-attorney-robert-graham.
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II.
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

1. On December 14, 2016, the Petitioning Creditors filed their involuntary petition to

commence this Chapter 7 Case. See ECF No. 1.

2. The Court has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 157 and

1334. Consideration of the Motion is a core proceeding pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 157(b)(2)(A).

Venue in this District is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1408 and 1409.

3. The basis for the relief sought herein arises from 11 U.S.C. §§ 105, 303(a) and

(g), 362(a), and 541.

4. Pursuant to Local Rule 9014.2, the Petitioning Creditors consent to entry of final

order(s) or judgment(s) by the bankruptcy judge if it is determined that the bankruptcy judge,

absent consent of the parties, cannot enter final orders or judgments consistent with Article III of

the United States Constitution.

III.
PERTINENT FACTS

A. Abandonment of the Law Firm After Failure to Comply with an Order to Transfer
Former Client’s Trust Funds.

1. On December 2, 2016, to the surprise of his staff, Mr. Graham called an office

meeting to announce that he was abandoning the Law Firm, and that all employees were laid off.

Not only had Mr. Graham failed to provided his staff with prior notice of the closing, but Mr.

Graham had also failed to inform the Law Firm’s clients. See Complaint ¶ 6-7.

2. Mr. Graham’s sudden abandonment of the Law Firm and its clients was

immediately preceded by an order (the “Transfer Order”), entered by the State Court in the

Macknin Case, directing Mr. Graham and the Law Firm to transfer funds in the amount of

$1,045,405.08 and $22,569.53, which were being held in trust for the Macknin Estate, as a

former client, to Michael Kling, Esq. and Michael Kling, Ltd., the Macknin Estate’s new

counsel. See id. ¶ 3.

3. Prior to entry of the Transfer Order, Mr. Graham had told Mr. Kling that he was

still holding the Macknin Estate’s funds in an IOLTA client trust account located at City
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National Bank (“CNB” and the “CNB IOLTA”), even providing a copy of a statement (the “Fake

IOLTA Statement”) showing a balance of more than $1 million. See id. ¶ 4; Kistler Expanded

TRO Dec. at Exhibit 2 to Exhibit 8.

4. In the aftermath of the Law Firm closing, and because of Mr. Graham’s failure to

comply with the Transfer Order, on December 5, 2016, Mr. Kistler obtained a temporary

restraining order (the “Initial TRO”) in the Macknin Case freezing all funds in the City National

IOLTA. See id. ¶ 9.

5. In response to the abandonment of the Law Firm, on December 6, 2016, the

Nevada Bar directed the pro-bono appointment of the Cassady Law Office to assume and wind-

down Mr. Graham’s practice, including providing notice to clients, and securing client files and

accounts. See id. ¶ 10; Exhibit 6 to the Expanded TRO Application.

6. The next day, on December 7, 2016, the Nevada Bar obtained accounting records,

including checks and disbursements, via subpoena. See, e.g., Kistler Expanded TRO Dec. at

Exhibit 7. After an initial analysis regarding the Law Firm’s accounting for a selection of 51 of

its former clients, the Nevada Bar determined that Mr. Graham and the Law Firm should be

holding more than $13 million in trust accounts. See Complaint ¶ 11; Kistler Expanded TRO

Dec. at Exhibit 2 to Exhibit 8 (the “Kistler Initial TRO Dec”).

7. CNB’s counsel told Mr. Kistler that the CNB IOLTA did not hold $13 million,

but had “a balance in the low six figures,” and Mr. Kistler otherwise understood no other

accounts related to Mr. Graham were held by CNB. See Kistler Initial TRO Dec. ¶ 4. As well,

CNB’s counsel indicated that the Fake IOLTA Statement was “not based upon a legitimate bank

statement.” See id. ¶ 6.

B. Mr. Graham’s Suspension.

8. On December 8, 2016, the Nevada Bar filed the Complaint, detailing disputes

regarding trust funds in the Macknin Case, Mr. Graham’s abandonment of the Law Firm and his

clients, and alleging that “[p]rior to the abandonment of his practice, [Mr. Graham] had routinely

and consistently failed to diligently distribute funds being held for clients in trusts, probates, and

estates, and failed to communicate with these clients regarding the status of their money.
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Respondent also repeatedly lied to clients as to the true status of their client funds.” See

Complaint ¶ 8.

9. The next day, on December 9, 2016, the Nevada Supreme Court entered the

Suspension Order, finding that the Complaint and supporting documentation demonstrate that

“Graham appears to have misappropriated client funds entrusted to him and abandoned his

practice without complying with SCR 115.” See Suspension Order at 1. The Nevada Supreme

Court temporarily suspended Mr. Graham’s bar license pending the resolution of formal

proceedings. Id.

C. Expanded TRO and Permanent Injunction.

10. In the wake of discoveries as to the potential breadth of Mr. Graham’s

misappropriation, the Macknin Estate sought to expand the Initial TRO, which prohibited Mr.

Graham, Debtor, and CNB from initiating any disbursements from CNB IOLTA to “prohibit

disbursements by Robert C. Graham, Robert C. Graham LTD, Linda Graham, City National

Bank, Nevada State Bank, JP Morgan Chase, Utah Community Credit Union, Cetra Advisors,

TINC Wealth Advisors, Pershing Advisor Solutions, LLC and WBI Wealth Management from

any account that may hold Graham’s clients’ assets, pending further order of the Court.” See

Expanded IOLTA App. at 1-2.

11. The Expanded IOLTA Application explained, with evidentiary support from Mr.

Kistler, that the Nevada Bar had indicated that Mr. Graham’s wife, Linda M. Graham, Esq., was

Mr. Graham’s law partner, and may be operating a law firm in Colorado. See Expanded Kistler

Dec. ¶ 9. Additionally, the Nevada Bar indicated to Mr. Kistler that trust funds for clients of Mr.

Graham and the Law Firm might be located at those institutions to which Mr. Kistler had

requested that the State Court Expand the Initial TRO’s scope. See id.

12. On December 9, 2016, the State Court granted the Expanded TRO Application

and entered the Expanded TRO Order. See Expanded TRO Order.

13. At a hearing on December 14, 2016 (the “Permanent Injunction Hearing”), the

State Court ordered that an injunction (the “Permanent Injunction”) making the Extended TRO
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permanent.3

D. The Graham Affidavit.

14. In advance of the Permanent Injunction Hearing, Mr. Graham submitted the

Graham Affidavit, an unsettling 21-page document filed in an apparent attempt to place into the

record testimony that Ms. Graham—a licensed Nevada attorney herself with accompanying

ethical duties—was not involved in the misappropriation. Mr. Graham noted, in a seeming

reference to his rights under the Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution given

pending criminal investigations, that he “has a right to keep silent on much of the underlying

matters.” See Graham Affidavit ¶ 42. This underscores that Mr. Graham does not immediately

intend to provide information regarding the fate of client trust funds to facilitate their recovery.

15. In a continuing abrogation of the Nevada Rules of Professional Conduct, the

Graham Affidavit suggested the State Court should unfreeze certain accounts that Mr. Graham

purported held operating funds, and not client trust funds. See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 50, 86-87.

Nevertheless, Mr. Graham summarized the entire matter as “a sad story of business losses over

twenty years of practice,” see id. ¶ 46, an apparent tacit admission that Mr. Graham had been

using at least some client trust funds to operate the business or to otherwise support his lifestyle.

See, e.g. id. ¶ 19 (noting that the Law Firm paid Mr. Graham’s credit card bills).

16. At the Permanent Injunction Hearing, the State Court noted that “‘[h]is affidavit

genuinely shows a lack of understanding of the principles of trust accounting,” adding that it

appeared as though he was using his trust as his own bank. 4

17. As galling as Mr. Graham’s actions are to the general public and the upstanding

members of the Nevada Bar alike, the continuing threat he poses—even in non-action and non-

contrition—is highlighted by the unhinged emotion of the Graham Affidavit. After engaging in

an emotional rant punctuated by seemingly sarcastic and flippant rhetorical questions, see id.

3 The Permanent Injunction was not available through the State Court’s document access system in sufficient time to
be attached to this Motion.

4 See Jeff Germain, “Las Vegas lawyer under investigation wants to protect wife from claims of missing client
money,” Las Vegas Review Journal (Dec. 14, 2016), available at http://www.reviewjournal.com/crime/courts/las-
vegas-lawyer-under-investigation-wants-protect-wife-claims-missing-client-money.
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¶61-75, Mr. Graham attacked his client-victims. He derisively referred to the very one of his

client-victims who ultimately uncovered his scheme, and who is one of the signatories on the

involuntary petition to impose the protection of the bankruptcy court for all of Mr. Graham’s

client-victims, as “the star of the stage presently due to the aggressive acts of her attorneys.” See

id. ¶ 90.

18. Read a whole, the Graham Affidavit contains generalized references to the

acknowledgement of wrongdoing, see, e.g., id. ¶ 84, but entirely lacks a tenor of contrition or

genuine concern with unwinding any damage that can be unwound. See, e.g., ¶ 84. Instead, the

Graham Affidavit is an aggressive and dangerous attempt to recast the damage done to his client-

victims as minor when compared to the damage others now seek to cause his family in their

pursuit of his accountability. See id. 76-77. Most outrageously, when comparing the damage, of

his client-victims with that done to his family, Mr. Graham stated, “No harm done.” See id. ¶

77.

19. Moving past the visceral shock of Mr. Graham’s efforts to downplay the harm to

his client-victims—many of whom themselves may have now lost funds that would have

otherwise paid for food, clothing, medical care, or education for their own children—the Graham

Affidavit raises undeniable concerns that Mr. Graham’s current motivation is protecting his own

interests at all costs. See generally id. While a natural response, and the same response that

many of his client-victims are undoubtedly experiencing as well, Mr. Graham’s raw emotion

threatens an orderly and law-based accounting and recovery of what—if any—of the victim’s

money may remain, including the just and rightful recovery under applicable law of money taken

by Mr. Graham from client trust funds that may have been was transferred for his benefit or that

of his family members.

IV.
LEGAL ARGUMENT

The appointment of a Trustee is justified to protect the assets of the estate in the wake of

Mr. Graham’s apparent misappropriation of funds. Underscoring the legal basis for this

appointment, Section 362(a) imposes the automatic say on all of a debtor’s assets, as well as
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preventing the commencement of actions against the property of the estate, and detailed in

Section 541. Section 303(f) provides, however, that upon the commencement of an involuntary

case, except as otherwise ordered by a court, the debtor may continue to use estate property as

though the involuntary case had not been commenced. Thereafter, Section 303(g) provides in

pertinent part:

At any time after the commencement of an involuntary case under
chapter 7 of this title but before an order for relief in the case, the
court, on request of a party in interest, after notice to the debtor
and a hearing, and if necessary to preserve the property of the
estate or to prevent loss to the estate, may order the United States
trustee to appoint an interim trustee under section 701 of this title
to take possession of the property of the estate and to operate any
business of the debtor.

Section 701 provides for the appointment by the United States trustee (“UST”) of a panel trustee.

Due to the lack of ambiguity of that provision, there is limited case regarding the appointment of

an interim trustee in an involuntary proceeding. The purpose of this provision is to safeguard the

estate in the interim between an involuntary filing and the entry of an order or relief, at which

time an alleged debtor may otherwise use the property of the estate “as if an involuntary case . . .

had not been commenced.” See 11 U.S.C. 303(f). While limited case law addresses Section

303(g), a passing reference is made noting the appointment of a Section 303(g) interim trustee in

Securities Investor Protection Corp. v. Bernard L. Madoff Invest. Sec. LLC, 2016 6088136, * 2

(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 18, 2016).

In this Chapter 7 Case, cause exists to appoint a Trustee because the recovery of Debtor’s

involuntary creditors may depend on the extent of immediate action taken to protect transferred

assets. Beyond mere speculation, admissible facts suggest that Debtor, through Mr. Graham, has

participated in an egregious violation of client trust that has collectively deprived clients of

millions of dollars, without any clear explanation of where the money has gone. While criminal

authorities are purportedly investigating, recovery of missing assets requires the prompt

involvement of protections provided under bankruptcy law to protect and recover assets that are

already known to be distributed, in unknown amounts, in institutions across the region.
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The overarching nature of Mr. Graham’s scheme, however, is unclear. In circumstances

involving the misappropriation of client funds, speculation typically includes whether the

attorney, e.g., became tempted by the volume of funds passing through his client’s trust

accounts, fell behind in an aggressive marketing budget as a lawyer relying heavily on television

advertising, became involved in bad business investments, or could otherwise no longer support

an unsuccessful moonshot venture. While the details underlying the misappropriation of client

funds are unknown, evidence provided by the Nevada Bar suggest that funds have been

transferred to a variety of financial institutions other than CNB, which held the CNB IOLTA.

There is no legal or ethical justification for client trust funds to have been transferred into these

accounts even were all funds still available and, most importantly, Section 303(g) does not

demand that petitioning creditors bear the burden of unwinding such a scheme of fraudulent

misappropriation before seeking the relief of the appointment of an interim trustee.

While the Nevada Bar has caused the transfer of business operations of the Law Firm,

independent counsel does not have the power nor the time and resources to effectively

investigate and pursue the recovery of estate assets. Likewise, while the State Court has imposed

certain limitations on transfers of funds that may have involved, these protections are narrowed

to by the facts before the State Court in the Macknin Case. Section 362(a), however, broadly

stays actions to use or transfer property of the estate under Section 541, whether or not expressly

identified. In turn, good cause exists to appoint a Trustee to protect the estate following the

filing of this Chapter 7 Case, as it would allow a professional expressly charged with the

marshaling and recovery of assets to most quickly attempt to prevent the further transfer or loss

of estate property for the benefit of its involuntary creditors.

As discussed above, the Graham Affidavit suggests that Mr. Graham may have freely

transferred unearned funds out of client trust accounts to pay operating expenses of the Law

Firm, or to cause the Law Firm to pay his own living expenses. The Graham Affidavit also

suggests that Mr. Graham, facing the imminent weight of consequences for the deception on

which his career was based, has nothing to lose from directly or indirectly causing further

subsequent transfers of funds that were, at one time, unlawfully removed from client trust funds,
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or otherwise obscuring or shielding the discovery or recovery of such funds. The imposition of

the automatic stay under Section 362(a) may be of limited practical effect without the weight of a

Section 303(g) Trustee to protect any remaining assets of the estate.

Additionally, while Section 701 provides that the UST makes the appointment of the

interim Trustee, the Petitioning Creditors support the selection of Mr. Shapiro as Trustee. Mr.

Shapiro’s experience investigating, identifying, and recovering assets in cases involving fraud

and other misappropriation makes him a strong candidate to effectuate the role of interim trustee

in a manner required by these circumstances.

V.
CONCLUSION

The Petitioning Creditors respectfully request that this Court enter an Order for an order

pursuant to 11 § USC 303(g) instructing the Office of the United States Trustee to immediately

appoint an interim trustee in this case, pursuant to 11 § USC 701(a). The Petitioning Creditors

request other relief as this Court deems proper.

DATED this 16th day of December, 2016.

GARMAN TURNER GORDON

By: __________________________
GERALD M. GORDON, ESQ.
KRISTIN M. TYLER, ESQ.
ERICK T. GJERDINGEN, ESQ.
Attorneys for Petitioning Creditors
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GARMAN TURNER GORDON LLP
GERALD M. GORDON, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 229
E-mail: ggordon@gtg.legal
KRISTIN M. TYLER, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 10254
E-mail: ktyler@gtg.legal
ERICK T. GJERDINGEN, ESQ.
Nevada Bar No. 11972
E-mail: egjerdingen@gtg.legal
650 White Drive, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Telephone (725) 777-3000
Facsimile (725) 777-3112
Attorneys for Petitioning Creditors

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NEVADA

In re:

ROBERT C. GRAHAM, LTD, A NEVADA
PROFESSIONAL CORPORATION, D/B/A
ROBERT C. GRAHAM CORP. AND
LAWYERSWEST

Alleged Debtor.

Case No.: BK-S-16-16655 -btb
Chapter: 7

Hearing:
Date: OST Pending
Time: OST Pending

ORDER TO APPOINT INTERIM TRUSTEE IN INVOLUNTARY CASE

Barbara A. Macknin, executor of the Estate of Michael B. Macknin, Sharona Dagani as

Trustee of the Sharona Dagani Trust, u/t/d July 2, 2003, and Laura J. Aust as Guardian and

Conservator of Margueritte Owens and the beneficiary of the Margueritte Owens Trust u/t/d

October 10, 2008 (the “Petitioning Creditors”), by and through their counsel, the law firm of
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Garman Turner Gordon LLP, filed its Motion to Appoint Interim Trustee in Involuntary Case

(the “Motion”)1 [ECF No. _], which came on for hearing before the above-captioned court on

__________ __, 201_, at __:_0 _.m. (the “Hearing.”) Petitioning Creditors appeared at the

Hearing by and through counsel, of the law firm of Garman Turner Gordon LLP, and all other

appearances were noted on the record at the Hearing.

The Court read and considered the Motion, as well as the argument of counsel at the

Hearing and having set forth its findings of facts and conclusions of law on the record at the

Hearing, which findings and conclusions are incorporated herein pursuant to Federal Rule of

Civil Procedure 52, made applicable hereby Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure 7052 and

9014, and good cause appearing therefore;

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that:

1. The Motion is GRANTED.

2. Cause exists to appoint an interim trustee pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 303(g) and 701.

3. The United States Trustee is hereby direct to immediately appoint an interim trustee

in the above-referenced bankruptcy case.

IT IS SO ORDERED.

PREPARED AND SUBMITTED:

GARMAN TURNER GORDON LLP

By: /s/ Erick T. Gjerdingen_____________
GERALD M. GORDON, ESQ.
KRISTIN M. TYLER, ESQ.
ERICK T. GJERDINGEN, ESQ.
650 White Drive, Suite 100
Las Vegas, Nevada 89119
Attorneys for Petitioning Creditors

1 All capitalized, undefined terms herein shall have the meanings ascribed to them in the Motion.
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c. 
BY 

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADAF E 
IN THE MATTER OF THE DISCIPLINE 
OF ROBERT C. GRAHAM, BAR NO. 
4618. 

No. 71849 DEC 0 9 201 

ORDER GRANTING PETITION, SUSPENDING ATTORNEY, AND 
RESTRICTING HANDLING OF CLIENT FUNDS 

This is a petition by the State Bar for an order temporarily 

suspending attorney Robert C. Graham from the practice of law, pending 

the resolution of formal disciplinary proceedings against him. The petition 

and supporting documentation demonstrate that Graham appears to have 

misappropriated client funds entrusted to him and abandoned his practice 

without complying with SCR 115. 

SCR 102(4)(b) provides, in pertinent part: 

On the petition of bar counsel, supported by an 
affidavit alleging facts personally known to the 
affiant, which shows that an attorney appears to 
be posing a substantial threat of serious harm to 
the public, the supreme court may order, with 
notice as the court may prescribe, the attorney's 
immediate temporary suspension or may impose 
other conditions upon the attorney's practice. 

In addition, SCR 102(4)(c) provides that we may place restrictions on an 

attorney's handling of funds. 

We conclude that the documentation before us demonstrates 

that Graham poses a substantial threat of serious harm to the public, and 

that his immediate temporary suspension is warranted under SCR 

SUPREME COURT 

OF 

NEVADA 

(0) 1947A 

	 IL:' -weo 
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102(4)(b). We further conclude that Graham's handling of funds, should be 

restricted.' 

Accordingly, attorney Robert C. Graham is temporarily 

suspended from the practice of law, pending the resolution of formal 

disciplinary proceedings against him. Graham is precluded from soliciting 

or accepting new clients and from continuing to represent existing clients 

upon service of this order. See SCR 102(4)(d) (allowing attorney to 

represent clients for 15 days after service of the order "unless the court 

orders otherwise"). In addition, pursuant to SCR 102(4)(b) and (c), we 

impose the following conditions on Graham's handling of funds: 

1. All proceeds from Graham's practice of law and all fees and 

other funds received from or on behalf of his clients shall, from the date of 

service of this order, be deposited into a trust account from which no 

withdrawals may be made by Graham except upon written approval of bar 

counsel; and 

2. Graham and anyone else with access to the accounts, see 

NRCP 65(d), are prohibited from withdrawing any funds from any and all 

accounts in any way relating to his law practice, including but not limited 

to his general and trust accounts, except upon written approval of bar 

counse1. 2  

lOur decision is based solely on the petition and supporting 
documents as provided by SCR 102(4)(b). Graham "may request 
dissolution or amendment" of this order by complying with SCR 102(4)(e). 

2This restriction includes, but is not limited to, the accounts held at 
City National Bank, Nevada State Bank, JP Morgan Chase, Utah 
Community Credit Union, Cetra Advisors, TINC Wealth Advisors, 
Pershing Advisor Solutions, LLC, and WBI Wealth Management that 

continued on next page. . . 
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A, 	Parraguirre 

Hardesty 

Cherry 

The State Bar shall immediately serve Graham with a copy of 

this order. Such service may be accomplished by personal service, 

certified mail, delivery to a person of suitable age at Graham's place of 

employment or residence, or by publication. When served on either 

Graham or a depository in which he maintains an account, this order shall 

constitute an injunction against withdrawal of the proceeds except in 

accordance with the terms of this order. See SCR 102(4)(c). Graham shall 

comply with the provisions of SCR 115. The State Bar shall comply with 

SCR 121.1. 3  

Picketing 

. . . continued 

relate in any way to Graham's law practice or that hold funds belonging to 
his clients. 

3Because we grant the petition, this matter is no longer confidential. 
SCR 121(5). 

4The Honorable Lidia S. Stiglich, Justice, did not participate in the 
decision of this matter. This is our final disposition of this matter. Any 
new proceedings shall be docketed under a new docket number. 
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cc: Chair, Southern Nevada Disciplinary Board 
Robert C. Graham 
Lawyers West, Inc. 
P. Sterling Kerr 
C. Stanley Hunterton, Bar Counsel, State Bar of Nevada 
Kimberly K. Farmer, Executive Director, State Bar of Nevada 
Perry Thompson, Admissions Office, U.S. Supreme Court 
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OPP 
ROBERT C. GRAHAM 
Nevada Bar No. 4618 
10000 W. Charleston Boulevard 
Howard Hughes Plaza 140 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89135 
Voice: (702) 255-6161 
Fax:  (702) 255-8383 
rgraham@lawyerswest.net 
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 
 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 
 
 
In the Matter of the Estate of  
 
MICHAEL B. MACKNIN,  
 
                                                       Deceased. 

Case No. P-13-077855-E 
Dept. No.:  Probate 
 
 
AFFIDAVIT IN OPPOSITION OF 
EMERGENCY EX PARTE MOTION 
FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING 
ORDER 
 
Date:   12/14/16 
Time:  9:30 a.m. 

  
 

 The undersigned, ROBERT C. GRAHAM, does state under threat of contempt and perjury the 

following in OPPOSITION TO THE EX PARTE MOTION FOR TEMPORARY RESTRAINING 

ORDER. 

1. That this Affidavit in Opposition will be the only appearance for the hearing made by the 

undersigned as he is subject of substantial media attention and rather than draw that attention to 

the court, he will make his representations in writing alone.  

2. That the undersigned is the sole Officer(s) and Director of Robert C. Graham, Ltd. d/b/a 

LawyersWest (“Company”) as organized under the laws of the State of Nevada in 1995 and 

having as its identification number under the Nevada Secretary of State C1573-1995.  The 

assertions made herein are supported by the public record and attached copies of the same for 
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the court’s convenience.  The undersigned asks the court to take judicial notice of the attached 

documents coming from the public record.  See Exhibit “A.” 

3. That the Company was formed in 1995 as a separate entity in participation with a partnership of 

other independent companies and sole proprietors forming a larger overhead sharing 

partnership of several other attorneys.  This partnership dissolved in the late 1990’s and is not 

relevant to the matter at hand, however, the court should note that the organization was of 

affiliated corporations and sole proprietors having only the overhead being shared by and 

between them.  Each participating entity had separate books, separate accounts, and separate 

clients from each other – having only overhead obligations shared.  This included Linda M. 

Graham being separate from the undersigned and his Company. 

4. This statement under threat of contempt is made mostly herein for the court to understand the 

separation of Linda M. Graham from Robert C. Graham, Ltd d/b/a LawyersWest as there has 

been multiple inaccuracies as to her level of involvement with the Company. 

5. Linda M. Graham was a participant in this original partnership, having her own clients and 

separate books from Robert C. Graham, Ltd.   Linda M. Graham resigned from full-time 

practice to raise children in approximately 1998.  Her limited client representation continued to 

be separate at that time. 

6. That for all intents and purposes the Company had as its sole owner Robert C. Graham 

individually since inception and that Linda M. Graham was not fully participating as a lawyer 

in the Company from 1998 through 2014 as she was raising children of the marriage and had 

previously kept all of her representation separate from the Company.  While in St. George, 

Utah between 2004 and 2011, she received part-time pay to assist with the operations of the 

office that was opened by the Company there, but her responsibilities were very limited as were 

her hours and her matters were mostly relating to matters in St. George, Utah needing Nevada  
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counsel.  She had no involvement in any Nevada probate matters.  She had no involvement 

with any Trust fund matters of Nevada.  Her work consisted mostly of estate planning and 

bankruptcy.  The office in St. George closed in approximately 2011 when she moved with the 

children to Fort Collins, Colorado. 

7. Between 2011 and 2014, Linda M. Graham’s participation in the Fort Collins office was nearly 

non-existent, even as a manager and trainer of attorneys.  As the undersigned was more and 

more absent from the Fort Collins office Linda M. Graham was asked to take additional 

responsibilities in supervision of Fort Collins attorneys and case management.  She did not take 

responsibility for any of the finances of the office. 

8. That Linda M. Graham has been out of the state of Nevada and not active in any Nevada 

management of the company for nearly 15 years.  That her participation outside of the state of 

Nevada was confined to a very limited number of clients living outside of Nevada where her 

licensing could be used, and more particularly in Colorado as a part-time employee assisting in 

training and supervision of attorneys in Fort Collins, Colorado. 

9. That the Colorado branch of the Company closed in mid-November in Fort Collins, Colorado 

because of the financial crisis facing the Company in Las Vegas.  Initially, she attempted to 

continue the case matters after closing the branch office down, but after seeing her name in 

print in an attempt by Petitioners to involve others in the matter, and the untruths thrown before 

this court without any support, the undersigned has learned and believes that she intends to 

sunset the practice altogether in Fort Collins to focus on the trauma facing her children. 

10. That to the best of the knowledge of the undersigned, Linda Graham was not a signer on any 

accounts of the company as she was a part-time manager of attorneys in Fort Collins only.  This 

applies specifically to the City National Bank Trust Account and the Chase Accounts, including 

the Fort Collins Operation Account. The undersigned is uncertain whether she may have been a 

Case 16-16655-btb    Doc 3-6    Entered 12/16/16 09:32:16    Page 4 of 23



 

Page 4 of 22 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

signing party on the General Operating Account of City National in Las Vegas (as this is a very 

old account), but she did not sign her name on any checks written on that account and was 

certainly not active as a signer on that account as it was based out of Las Vegas and was for Las 

Vegas operations. The only active signers on this administrative account were the office 

manager and another employee-manager who were both located in the Las Vegas Office. 

11. All administrative actions of the Company, even paying obligations in Fort Collins, were 

performed and directed in the Las Vegas Office alone and Linda M. Graham had no access to 

the day-to-day activities of the Company’s management and as a part-time manager, her 

responsibilities did not involve or include any financial dealings of the Company at any 

location. 

12. All bills and payables of the Fort Collins Office were paid through the J.P. Morgan Chase 

accounts.  Linda M. Graham was not a signer on these accounts.  All payable decisions were 

made and processed through the Las Vegas Office and checks were signed by the local office 

manager in Fort Collins, who was also only an employee or bills were paid through the 

undersigned.  Linda M. Graham was not included in any of the financial dealings of the Fort 

Collins Office other than perhaps from time-to-time identifying bills that needed to be paid and 

making requests for payments. 

13. That Linda M. Graham received employee W2 salary pay checks through the firm like all other 

employees. 

14. That Linda M. Graham was not a “Business Partner” of Robert C. Graham, Ltd as has been 

asserted as she owned no equity in the company Robert C. Graham, Ltd.  Additionally, as can 

be attested through the official records of the State of Nevada, she was not a member of the 

Board of Directors and was not an officer of the company and has not ever served in that 

capacity since the inception of the company to the best recollection of the undersigned.  Indeed, 
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Linda M. Graham ran her own business up to 1998 and took her own income from that business 

as an attorney independent from Robert C. Graham, Ltd and had her own separate clients and 

her own separate income. 

15. To the best of the knowledge of the undersigned, any clients she may have had between 1998 

and 2014 where she received a fee, she would have taken directly from payments made.  As a 

part-time employee of Robert C. Graham, Ltd., Linda M. Graham’s work done for the 

Company would have been compensated separately from any of her separate clients. 

16. Since nearly the inception of the 30-year marriage, Robert C. Graham individually has kept 

separate bank accounts from Linda M. Graham.  The only mutual financial dealings would 

have been on a home mortgage.  It was determined early in the marriage that it was easier to 

keep track of checks, income, and balances having separate accounts and that practice 

continued throughout the entire length of the marriage, including to the present day as both 

individuals were professionals and had separate income derived from their separate 

employment or separate payroll.  Debt obligations were assumed and assigned based on 

convenience, such as Linda M. Graham paying routine household bills. 

17. That while raising children between 1998 and 2014, Linda M. Graham would request funds 

from Robert C. Graham and receive a payment, but she was still responsible for her own bank 

account and the individuals did not share accounts, nor financial information with each other, 

including information about consumer debt, such as individual credit cards.  For convenience 

the individuals may have put the other on credit cards of one another, but in practice each 

individual kept and maintained their own separate consumer debt. 

18. That the individuals had a common household and would therefore contribute separately to the 

household, typically having household expenses divided with Linda M. Graham paying the 

day-to-day household expenses and expenses of the family from her paycheck (W2 Income or 
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stipend while raising children) and Robert C. Graham paying other expenses through his 

Company, such as Company vehicles and related insurance, and contributing from his own 

draws from the Company to the mortgage and taxes. 

19. That Robert C. Graham would typically receive draws from the Company or pay his credit 

cards through the Company and this is how he would receive his income and NOT through W2 

paychecks, as he was the owner of the company. 

20. That Linda M. Graham had no knowledge or access to the Company’s Trust Account and the 

ONLY signer on the account was Robert C. Graham.  That Linda M. Graham had no electronic 

or Internet access to any accounts identified in the Petition and did not have passwords to the 

accounts for access.  That the Office Manager in Las Vegas only had access to the City 

National General Account (bill paying) and J.P. Morgan Chase Las Vegas Operating Account 

(bill paying) and Cost Account.  That the Office Manager in Fort Collins only had access to the 

J.P. Morgan Chase Fort Collins Operating Account.  That neither had transfer authority. 

21. That only Robert C. Graham had access to all accounts and authority and access to transfer 

funds online. 

22. That Linda M. Graham had no knowledge of transfers between any accounts as she had no 

access to said accounts or statements and that even employees of the Company had no 

knowledge as to account balances or transfers other than that which they were authorized to 

see, which was limited to their management responsibilities, e.g., payment of bills from either 

General or Operating Accounts. 

23. That Linda M. Graham was at best a simple facilitator of paying payroll and paying bills in 

conjunction with the Office Manager of the Fort Collins office. 

24. That the Fort Collins office was for all intents and purposes a separate office having its own 

income and its own clients, which also included its own bank account for paying bills.  That 
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short of occasional assistance provided to the Las Vegas attorneys, such as occasional legal 

research tasks, etc. the attorneys in Fort Collins were entirely unfamiliar with any Las Vegas 

client matters and did not deal with any Las Vegas client funds. 

25. That if Fort Collins required a subsidy of paying bills or payroll, that these funds would have 

come from the Las Vegas General Account which was located and administered in Las Vegas 

alone. 

26. That with only very rare exception, all money coming from the Robert C. Graham Attorney 

Trust Account would go into the City National General Account and booked as income to the 

Company and from those transfers of income bills would be paid for the Company.  That to the 

knowledge of any and all persons, such transfers were income and booked as income for tax 

and administrative purposes.  Typically, any transfers to other accounts would come from this 

source, e.g., the City National General Account (bill paying), including payroll.  Rare direct 

wires from Trust would typically be client related or on a very rare basis made for a payable 

obligation where an electronic transfer to the City National General Account could not be 

arranged. Only Robert C. Graham could arrange these wires, which were ordered through 

signed requests directly from City National Bank’s wire department – so the authority for the 

wires and purpose for the wire transfers is very clear and in writing.  This changed only 

recently with the introduction of a secure online system introduced by the bank which still 

required access to a Security verification FOB that only Robert C. Graham had possession of 

and only the undersigned made these transfers.  This transfer systems was used primarily with 

non-trust account assets, but was used on occasion for Trust Account Transfers.  Again, only 

Robert C. Graham was trained on using this later system and always had control of the Security 

Verification FOB. None of the other employees would have been aware of such direct transfers 
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to payables and certainly not Linda M. Graham as she never even saw a billing statement and 

was located hundreds of miles away. 

27. That the billing statements of the Trust Account went only to the Las Vegas location and were 

kept in a secure office.  Only employees of the Las Vegas office had access to these statements.  

In fact, all banking statements except the Fort Collins Operating Account statements went to 

the Las Vegas office. 

28. False and unfounded assertions have been made by unknown persons that accounting was done 

by a mother-in-law in Fort Collins. All accounting was done in the Las Vegas office by Las 

Vegas employees well known to all employees working in the Las Vegas office.  The mother-

in-law of Robert C. Graham who worked in Fort Collins was responsible human resources, 

such as health and dental insurance and for collecting payroll data.  She also was responsible 

for entering in time for the billing program.  She was also responsible for paying day-to-day 

bills of the Fort Collin’s office.  She had no other financial responsibilities and certainly was 

not the accountant for the firm and had no access or exposure to any Trust Accounting detail.  

All accounting functions of the law firm were conducted in Las Vegas and all formal income 

tax filings were done through Las Vegas accountants.  As mentioned above, all Trust 

Statements were accounted for and stored in the Las Vegas office.  Only Las Vegas employees 

had access to any Trust Account information.  The Fort Collins office did not have an active 

Trust Account, so no Trust Accounting was necessary in that office. 

29. That all other reconciliation were done in the Las Vegas Office of the general operating account 

(City National) and the operation account (Chase) by internal accounting personnel in Las 

Vegas.  That neither Linda M. Graham nor the mother-in-law of the undersigned would have 

had any knowledge of any of these accounts or any underlying activity.  Only the bank 

statements of the operating account of Fort Collins was accessible to the mother-in-law and 
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Linda M. Graham would not have had reason to even look upon these statements as she had no 

financial duties associated with her management of personnel in Fort Collins.  It is doubtful that 

she ever even saw or looked at the Fort Collins bank statements from Chase.  The mother-in-

law had fewer than six monthly checks for overhead, so very little money even went through 

the Fort Collins operating account, so the accounts was insignificant in comparison to the 

substantial activity of the Las Vegas office and related statements – which she would have 

never seen.  

30. That Linda M. Graham did not have other bank accounts that she managed for the Company 

and did not have access to the Company’s books and records, which were all kept in the Las 

Vegas Office (including a copy of the Fort Collins Bank information) for tax purposes. 

31. That Linda M. Graham has only very rarely come to the Las Vegas office, and when coming 

perhaps once a year to the Las Vegas office only addressed management issues involving 

personnel and did not have access to any books and records during such visits.  That any 

discussion of finances would have only been in generalities with no itemized statements or 

reports ever being shared with the management team. 

32. That all reporting and financial statements were essentially confined to the undersigned.  That 

any reports prepared regarding payables or receivables would have been prepared in Las Vegas 

by the accounting personnel in Las Vegas and presented to Robert C. Graham for review.  That 

these reports would not have shown Trust Activity, but would have only shown outstanding 

bills and obligations, of which there were many. 

33. That the managers in Fort Collins and Las Vegas Offices, who were essentially most senior 

lawyer employees of the Company at each location, were limited to personnel supervision, case 

management and employee training and would not have had access to Company financial 

records or reports in the normal course. 
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34. Much speculation has been made about the flow of client held trust funds in Las Vegas, but the 

processing of funds was ridiculously simple and easy to follow. In each report regarding Trust 

Funds, those examining the data have reached well far beyond the mark relating to the 

depositing, holding and disposition of Trust Funds.  The process was so well documented as to 

leave no alternative viable and is easily followed and identifiable.  Speculation and alternatives 

surrounding the process is rampant and absurd. 

35. If any trust funds were received, they were placed into Trust – typically by an employee of the 

firm.  Robert C. Graham did not typically deposit or note deposits coming in the normal course.  

Such deposits were noted in deposit books of the Trust Funds.  The deposit books were held in 

an staff administrator’s desk.  If wires came into the trust funds from a closing on a sale of a 

home or wired in from the liquidation of a probate asset, such as an account liquidation, those 

deposits would also be noted in the Trust Deposit book by client name as an “EFT.”  All checks 

and drafts received would be copied and attached to a copy of the deposit slips. Any wires from 

closings would typically be supported by closing documents received at a later time. 

36. Funds were then held in Trust.  As Trust Funds were earned, they were transferred to the City 

National Bank “General Account” where the funds would be booked as income and used for 

payables. 

37. Much speculation has been made about the flow of Trust Funds, but that flow is very visible on 

the statements.  As an example, if a client deposited $100.00 into trust, that amount once earned 

would be transferred into the general account.  That $100.00 would then be used to pay 

obligations of the firm, such as payroll or health insurance.  If the Fort Collins office was in 

need of funds or a subsidy to assist that office in paying rent or something similar, funds would 

be transferred from City National Bank to that account. 
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38. The rampant speculation that there are other accounts is simply not supported by the statements 

showing the deposits and showing the transfer of funds.  The flow of funds is well documented 

and well supported by documentation. 

39. Speculation that Linda M. Graham or the mother-in-law are hiding funds or conspiring to hide 

funds, or doing accountings to hide funds or are somehow involved in hiding transferred funds 

is not supported by any of the underlying statements that show the clear flow of funds after 

deposits.  Innocent lives are being impacted and even threats against these individuals are being 

made because of unsupported and unsubstantiated assertions that go well beyond the mark.  

These assertions are made to simply attempt to bring more persons into the mix simply because 

of a marital vow or family relation.  Rather than follow the logical and well-documented bank 

statements going orderly and systematically from deposit, to transfer to accounts payable (or 

distribution to a client), all which have been readily accessible and reviewable, and all 

documents that have been accessible to the State Bar of Nevada, the Cassady Law Firm and 

former employees of the Company, these litigants choose instead to slander and libel parties 

who have had no involvement and no dealings with the issues at hand. 

40. In fact, we see this matter being purposefully pushed into the media to by name by these 

litigants recklessly identifying persons having no involvement and putting their private lives 

and safety in jeopardy.  The assertions are reckless and liability is likely to attach to the 

reckless assertions that are entirely unfounded. 

41. Rather than wait for the facts and evidence, these litigants in reckless abandon have decided to 

shoot anyone wearing a Company name tag and then sort out the guilty ones later after the 

body count is done.  If honest persons are giving truthful testimony, this court will hear 

statements from representatives of the bar that have been made that need to be corrected.  The 

litigants in this instant matter have no desire to wait for the truth to ferret out, but instead turn 
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instantly to the newspapers to spew falsehoods or misstatements that need to be corrected based 

upon information coming in as the underlying investigation develops. 

42. The undersigned has a right to keep silent on much of the underlying matters.  In absence of 

statements regarding the history of the matter, the litigants simply speculate to defame innocent 

persons in the press and name drop here and there in hopes of pressuring the undersigned to 

speak. 

43. Certain representations are made herein to attempt to protect those who are being libeled and 

slandered without cause and without evidence.  If truth is a defense, then trust should be spoken 

– otherwise there is no defense.  The litigants would be wise to first learn the truth rather than 

speculate in the media and under sworn testimony or under the threat of Rule 11 sanctions on 

matters involving other persons.  So far, they have spoken first and simply hoped that the truth 

would catch up. 

44. This court should be informed that Linda M. Graham has now been forced to move from her 

home for fear for her family because her name has been recklessly thrown about and she has 

received threats on her life and on the lives of her children.  On Monday a crew of loving 

neighbors and associates physically moved the family out of the house because the fear from 

threats had become so severe. 

45. Many vigilante observers in the public might feel it justified that an innocent spouse or family 

member under these circumstances should be punished simply because of their relationship or 

association with an accused.  No orderly society of reason, law and order can ever justify the 

harm to innocent persons simply by association.  Using the press to punish innocent persons 

associated by name alone is a vulgar and despicable practice and the litigants in this matter 

have blood on their hands. 
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46. The sad story of business losses over twenty years of practice will come out in weeks and 

months to come. 

47. The undersigned is present and working with authorities to account and be accountable for 

these losses and is not “hiding” as the litigants have asserted again and again in the press. 

48. The undersigned voluntarily removed himself from his family prior to Thanksgiving and 

situated himself in Las Vegas, contacted attorneys and began making contact with the State Bar 

of Nevada and the courts to begin a process that has a unambiguous punishment at the end. 

49. From the beginning of that period, Bar Counsel has had contact with the undersigned’s attorney 

with assurances of physical presence. 

50. On December 2, 2016, the undersigned proposed an orderly shutting down of the law practice 

and asked for staff members to volunteer to help sort through files and protect client interests – 

especially on matters pending the week after their termination and the closing of the law firm.  

As the funds of the Law Firm had become exhausted (meaning the money available from 

income from clients had run out), the employees were told they could exchange their time for 

furnishings if they would be willing to help in the transition. 

51. On December 2, the files were sorted between pending matters and closed matters. 

52. On December 2, the employees were told that any client files with outstanding fees due (or 

funds in trust) should be segregated to a separate location as if the Company were to file for 

bankruptcy, the trustee would want to assert a file lien on fees due and would need to work 

with new counsel in transferring the matters. 

53. On December 2, the employees were informed that as of the end of that day, the undersigned 

would stop practicing law and shortly thereafter retire his law license with the Bar as he was 

emotionally and physically spent and could go on no more. 
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54. On December 2, the employees were asked to protect specific interests that might need to be 

addressed that day and into the following week – as there were many outstanding probate 

hearings and trusts half done that needed to be referred out or finished. 

55. On December 2, some pending matters were directed to be taken out of the firm by some of the 

attorneys where a clean break was possible. 

56. At the end of the day, all agreed to come back the next day (Saturday) and then again on 

Sunday and continue to work through the client file matters on those days and into the next 

week. 

57. It is the understanding of the undersigned that a complaint was brought to the bar against the 

undersigned on Saturday and that the State Bar of Nevada essentially assigned Jason Cassady 

to take over the files because of the closure of the Company. 

58. It was arranged to have Mr. Cassady come into the law firm on Wednesday and take over the 

task of finishing client matters for the firm.  By mutual agreement with the Bar, it was agreed to 

allow Mr. Cassady into the law office to facilitate this transfer. 

59. Despite the meeting arranged for this purpose, work on the client matters and closing the firm 

was conducted on Saturday and on Sunday, with many employees coming and going from the 

Law Firm property and several employees taking furnishings as agreed. 

60. This work was to continue on Monday. 

61. On Monday, the staff of the law firm was told by a former employee that she had spoken to a 

representative of the Bar and that the staff was to leave the facility – hence, now no one was 

available to conduct the necessary work that had been pre-arranged to attend to file transfers. 

62. The arrangements of the undersigned to protect the clients and their pending or outstanding 

matters had been completely and entirely subverted. 
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63. From this, the Bar Counsel then reported to the Supreme Court in a Complaint that the 

undersigned had “abandoned” his practice.  Though true that the practice had closed, the 

assertion of abandonment is an entire falsehood.  In fact, the Bar’s own intervention had 

resulted in the loss of employees who were attending to the transfers. 

64. The litigants in this matter, however, have picked up on the same theme of abandonment as an 

excuse for emergency action by this court. 

65. Amazingly, after receiving an email copy of the ex parte motion to freeze the accounts, the 

undersigned communicated directly with the litigants and informed them that the trust account 

was secure, as were all checks of the account and no further action would be made relating to 

the account. 

66. The litigants were informed of a few outstanding checks (or in the case of a particular Special 

Needs Trust, the transfer of an ACH directive for checks just received) and the litigants were 

told they would need to make arrangements with the bank as to those outstanding matters. 

67. Despite having knowledge of a few outstanding checks/transfers pending, the litigants – with 

full knowledge – accused the undersigned of still using the trust account after closing the 

practice.  This even after they were informed that there were de minimus outstanding matters 

that they would have to discuss with the bank about freezing or honoring.  Did the litigants 

herein inform the court of this communication with them and the fact that they were advised of 

outstanding transactions when they came back to the court on the expansion of the ex parte 

motion?  Did they simply take advantage of the empty chair and decide to hide the truth from 

the tribunal? 

68. Likewise, the expansion of the freeze order was not unanticipated, however, the litigants then 

began their crusade against the innocent by naming Linda Graham in the pleadings and to 

freeze her accounts simply because of her marital relationship with the undersigned without a 
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scintilla of evidence to support their reckless assertions.  The only evidence they had was the 

fact that she was a manager of a now closed practice in Fort Collins.  They did not call or 

interview her.  They did not inquire as to the status of the law firm in Fort Collins (at that point 

it was closed).  They did not inquire to the undersigned whether she was a signer on any of the 

accounts. 

69. Amazingly, email service goes in two directions.  It is through the wonders of science that an 

email sent one way has the ability to be sent back and someone can even send an email to an 

originator without difficulty.  So when the undersigned sent litigants a detailed explanation 

about the status of the Trust Account of the law firm, it apparently was too difficult for the 

litigants to send an email going the other direction asking some basic questions – such as “can 

you tell us whether Linda, your wife, is a signer on any accounts that would have trust money.”  

Of course, when you really don’t want to know the answer, you don’t ask the question. 

70. It is certainly more effective in the press to speculate and slander than it is to simply ask a 

question. 

71. Here’s a good question:  “Is Linda a signer on any of the accounts or does she have access to 

any of these accounts?” 

72. Or another “Does Linda have any Client Funds in any accounts she has access to.” 

73. And just to make sure “Given your representation that Linda is not on any of these accounts, 

can you provide something from the bank or verify what you have said.” 

74. Of course the answer to all of these questions, which is truthful and independently verificable is 

that Linda Graham has no Client Trust Money at her access or in any account where she is a 

signer. 

75. The litigants made no reasonable inquiry.  They didn’t even try to call her or email the 

undersigned.  They didn’t try to arrange any conference calls with the bank to verify the 
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information with the undersigned.  It is doubtful that they even asked any employees about 

Linda’s access to any accounts.  They simply decided to slander and accuse without any basis 

of independent evidence.  It is a clear Rule 11 violation and it is the very reason such rules are 

in place – to protect from harassment and defamation. 

76. Now an entire family has been displaced from a place of security, safety and comfort during an 

incredibly difficult emotional time.  Two children of Linda M. Graham have not only lost their 

father to a system of accountability, but have now lost the only comfort and security, their 

family home because of reckless and unfounded accusations which have led to threats against 

their individual safety.  Of course, the words “I am going to hunt you down and hunt your 

children down” might have other meanings, but not reasonable ones outside of doing violence 

to another person.  Hunting usually involves the killing of prey. 

77. But the litigants will go home to their beds tonight without threat of death because apparently 

they are more innocent because they are not related to the undersigned.  Their names don’t 

appear in the newspapers as persons guilty by family name association.  Their children will be 

safe walking to school.  No harm done. 

78. The undersigned was advised to voluntarily withdraw from practice and retire his license, 

which he did at the beginning of these circumstances. 

79. The undersigned was precluded from returning to his office on Wednesday as the State Bar of 

Nevada did not want him to sell any furnishings – apparently the Bar preferred the furnishings 

to go to the Landlord instead of the restitution fund which has now apparently happened.  With 

that exclusionary statement, the undersigned never returned to the law office, and the last 

person to see all records was the Bar and Jason Cassady.  The status of the records are now 

entirely unknown to the undersigned, but the State Bar of Nevada was the last to have custody 

and control of these records and client files. 

Case 16-16655-btb    Doc 3-6    Entered 12/16/16 09:32:16    Page 18 of 23



 

Page 18 of 22 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

80. It is presumed that the bar took the records, but the undersigned has no receipt for the same and 

has not been informed as to what they have taken. 

81. It is presumed that the landlord has the records if they are not in the possession of the Bar. 

82. What is clear, however, is that the Bar has enough information to make assertions, which 

indicates that the Bar at least as bank statements. 

83. The litigants in this matter have chosen to take their own independent actions instead of 

allowing the Nevada State Bar to take the lead or for the undersigned to simply cooperate in 

this regard. 

84. The litigants are essentially doing the lock-down work that the State Bar of Nevada would do in 

the normal course.  Apparently, their client is willing to pay for the entire investigation for all 

of the aggrieved parties instead of allowing the Bar to conduct its investigation. Again, the 

litigants have never asked for cooperation or for answers, they have simply found it more 

economical to obtain court orders and swing wildly – when the opposition has already waived 

the white flag and pledged to cooperate.  Amazing how many fees have been wasted doing 

what could have been done through stipulation and agreement. 

85. Presently, the City National Accounts have all been frozen. 

86. In the General Account exists a balance around $5,000.00.  This was a client payment and is a 

fee that has nothing to do with Trust Funds or more particularly the funds of Ms. Macknin.  

Two payroll checks have not been able to be cashed and in the priority of insolvency, payroll 

comes before unsecured creditors – even if those creditors may have a priority amongst 

creditors. 

87. It is appropriate to allow that account to become available to meet the payroll checks that are 

outstanding.  There are no other checks and no desire by the undersigned to otherwise access 

any remaining funds. 
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88. The Chase Accounts have no client funds within them.  As they are frozen, even checks that 

were outstanding regarding client costs are being returned or NSF at the detriment to other 

clients.  The freezing of these accounts was simply reckless by the litigants.  Again, no one 

asked whether client funds were in these accounts – there has simply been an assumption.  As 

the accounts are essentially below zero, the statement that client funds are in these accounts is 

preposterous.  The funds coming into these accounts in the last month or so have been limited 

to credit card and check payments from the income of the law firm and expressly have 

excluded Trust Funds from coming into these accounts directly or indirectly for obvious 

reasons of shutting down the firm. 

89. Presently, the accounts are being overdrawn because client cost checks for recording deeds and 

the like are going through and so the last important work of the law firm is now being frustrated 

because these accounts cannot be accessed. 

90. There is no harm in allowing access to these accounts to attempt to rectify the damage done by 

their untimely freezing.  At least deposits should be allowed so as to attempt to protect the other 

clients matters.  Ms. Macknin might be the star of the stage presently because of the aggressive 

actions of her attorneys, but she isn’t the only client entitled to protection.  Law licensing is not 

required by the undersigned to simply make deposits to allow prior transactions to go through.  

Ms. Macknin will not be harmed by allowing below zero accounts to become accessible again 

by the undersigned to continue the systematic and orderly closing of the practice. 

91. There is no doubt that there has been substantial damage done as a result of the losses of the 

practice in question over the last 20 years.  Ms. Macknin will not be alone in the losses.  The 

process, however, of restitution and accountability should attempt to damage as few innocent 

people as possible, whether they be employees, spouses, clients or others.  The process of 

accountability has already started and it is going to be a process of discovery best left to those 
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who have access to all of the information where truth can be ferreted out.  Those authoritative 

bodies, such as the State Bar of Nevada and District Attorney’s office will have the resources 

and access to protect Ms. Macknin and others. 

92. A continued freeze on the City National Trust Account is obviously not objectionable, but the 

court should simply transfer the authority of access and control to the State Bar of Nevada 

where it is proper. 

93. A continued freeze on City National General Account (ending in 87) should be released so the 

two remaining payroll checks of employees can be cashed as a priority of insolvency.  The 

remaining money can simply stay in the account and the undersigned agrees to allow the funds 

to stay without further access after the payroll checks are cashed. 

94. The Chase Accounts have no material funds remaining in them and they are necessary for the 

winding down of the practice and to protect outstanding cost checks for other clients.  These 

accounts have no Client Funds in them and the freezing of the accounts is simply making a 

complex closing of the practice more complex and hurting other clients.  All of the Chase 

Accounts should simply be unfrozen and returned to the control of the undersigned to raise 

balances so checks can be honored that are going through. 

95. By way of this Affidavit of the undersigned, who is the most familiar with the assertions made 

herein, it is requested that Linda M. Graham’s name be removed from any further order, or at 

least her name be limited to these accounts without the threat of any ambiguous expansion as 

against Linda M. Graham to other personal accounts (and business accounts outside of 

LawyersWest). 

96. There is no evidence of any collusion or conspiracy and she was not an owner with the 

undersigned of the firm. 
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97. Remarkably, those closest to the Las Vegas transactions who would have had much more 

knowledge and ability to do something underhanded have been cooperating with the State Bar 

of Nevada and for all intents and purposes exculpated and are not even suspect.  If those closest 

to the matter are not part of these proceedings, then why would someone hundreds of miles 

away from the location of the problems be dragged into the matter without any evidence?  This 

is simply an improper use of the court’s powers to intimidate and harass without justification.  

Because the safety of others is at issue, the litigants for Ms. Macknin should be restrained from 

making further reckless representations in the media or before this court without the requisite 

support required of an attorney. 

 FURTHER AFFIANT SAITH NAUGHT 

 

 

     _____________________________________ 
     ROBERT C. GRAHAM 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Case 16-16655-btb    Doc 3-6    Entered 12/16/16 09:32:16    Page 22 of 23



 

Page 22 of 22 

 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT “A” 
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